WOOA

FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AUG 7 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

NATHANIEL WHITE,

Petitioner,

versus

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 85,603

By\_

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY AND THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON, PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BRYNN NEWTON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar Number 175150 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32114-4310 904-252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 1990, Petitioner was convicted in the Circuit Court of Volusia County, Florida, of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon; burglary of a dwelling; robbery; two counts of aggravated assault; and eluding a law enforcement officer, and was sentenced as an habitual violent felony offender to concurrent terms totalling thirty years in prison. (R 86-92) His convictions and sentences were affirmed, <u>per curiam</u>, by the Fifth District Court of Appeal on February 26, 1991. <u>White v. State</u>, 576 So. 2d 307 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). On May 6, 1994, the trial court denied his motion to correct an illegal sentence. (R 20-23, 35-40) On February 24, 1995, the trial court's order was affirmed by the District Court and on March 24, 1995, Petitioner's motion for rehearing was denied. <u>White v. State</u>, 651 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: Petitioner maintains that a sentencing court must consider the nature of the crimes listed in Section 775.084(1)(b)1. as qualifying a defendant for sentencing as an habitual violent felony offender. A prior violent qualifying felony must be "especially" or "consciously" violent, and therefore a prior conviction for manslaughter by culpable negligence should not qualify a defendant as a habitual violent felony offender. The trial court erroneously relied upon the statute numbers of the distinguish D.U.I. manslaughter separate crimes to from manslaughter by culpable negligence although the habitual violent felony offender statute itself does not list any of the prior qualifying violent felonies by their statute numbers. The First District Court of Appeal has distinguished "D.U.I. manslaughter" from "manslaughter" in part on the basis that the former is not "consciously" violent<sup>1</sup>.

ISSUE II: If the necessary predicate convictions are absent, an habitual felony offender sentence is illegal, and an illegal sentence, even though previously affirmed on direct appeal, may be corrected at any time.

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>Watkins v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 1148 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993).

#### ARGUMENT

## <u>ISSUE I</u>

D.U.I. MANSLAUGHTER, AND MANSLAUGHTER CULPABLE NEGLIGENCE ARE BY NOT VIOLENT" "CONSCIOUSLY CRIMES AND PRIOR CONVICTIONS THEREOF THUS CANNOT SUPPORT A FINDING THAT A DEFENDANT QUALIFIES FOR SENTENCING AS AN HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER.

At his sentencing in 1990, Petitioner objected to being classified as an habitual violent felony offender because the conviction which purportedly qualified him as an habitual violent felony offender, a 1977 adjudication for manslaughter, was not a "violent" felony but was rather the result of driving under the influence of alcohol. (R 64, 66) If the necessary predicate convictions are absent, a habitual felony offender sentence is illegal. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 948 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), <u>quashed on other grounds</u>, 599 So. 2d 998 (Fla. 1992); s. 775.084, Fla. Stat. (1993).

At the 1990 sentencing, the trial judge observed that:

THE COURT: The manslaughter count appears to be based upon culpable negligence in the operation of a motor vehicle.

MR. BEVIS [Prosecutor]: That's exactly correct.

MR. EDDINGTON [Defense counsel]: That's certainly distinctive from an intentional violent act.

MR. BEVIS: The way I'm reading the statute, it doesn't distinguish.

(R 66) The prosecutor recalled that Petitioner had struck a bicyclist with his car. (R 65) The judge also stated that he did

not know of "any other way manslaughter can be committed other than by culpable negligence." (R 67)

In his motion to correct his illegal sentence as an habitual violent felony offender, Petitioner cited <u>Watkins v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 1148 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), wherein the First District Court of Appeal held that the defendant could not be sentenced as an habitual violent felony offender on the basis of his having previously been convicted of **DUI manslaughter**. In the 1994 order denying the motion to correct the illegal sentence, the trial court held that <u>Watkins</u> did not apply because (1) DUI manslaughter is codified under a different statute than manslaughter by culpable negligence and (2) killing a human being by culpable negligence is included within the same statute that defines manslaughter by act or procurement. ss. 316.193(3), 782.07, Fla. Stat. (1993). (R 37-39)

The First District Court of Appeal in <u>Watkins</u> had noted (1) that the offense of "manslaughter" appears under the homicide statute and "DUI manslaughter" is listed under traffic offenses <u>and</u> (2) that "DUI manslaughter," like Petitioner's manslaughter conviction, is not a consciously violent type of crime. It is upon the reasoning under the second part of <u>Watkins</u>' holding that Petitioner relies and which supports his contention that the trial court improperly classified him as an habitual violent felony offender in 1990:

. . . Moreover, we note that all the predicate offenses enumerated in section 775.084(1)(b)(1) involve intent. <u>DUI manslaughter</u>, by virtue

of the fact that the defendant is intoxicated or under the influence of intoxicants, does not require intent. consequence, defendant's а As а intoxication could negate such an Thus, we conclude that DUI intent. manslaughter is not a consciously violent type of crime like those enumerated within section 775.084(1)(b)(1).

Watkins v. State, 622 So. 2d at 1150. (Emphasis supplied.) (R 21-22)

It is the **nature** of the prior felony and not its enumeration in the statutes that qualifies a prior conviction as a "violent" felony for purposes of habitual violent felony offender sentencing. <u>See, e. g., Ross v. State</u>, 601 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 1992) ("The entire focus of the [habitual violent felony offender] statute is not on the present offense, but on the criminal offender's prior record."). In <u>Ross</u>, this Honorable Court upheld the rationality of including aggravated assault as a felony qualifying a defendant for sentencing under Section 775.084(1)(b)1. by observing that:

> [Aggravated assault] consists of any assault with a deadly weapon or with an intent to commit a felony. s. 784.021(1), Fla. Stat. (1987). We find it not merely plausible, but entirely understandable, that the included legislature aggravated in the list of felonies assault considered to be especially violent, thereby warranting enhanced punishment for future recidivism.

Id., 601 So. 2d at 1192. (Emphasis supplied.)

The significance of <u>Watkins</u>' holding is that DUI manslaughter is <u>not</u> an "especially violent" felony, because it is not "consciously violent." In the 1994 order denying Petitioner's

motion to correct his illegal sentence, the Volusia County trial court found the different statutory numbers assigned to the crimes of D.U.I. manslaughter and manslaughter by culpable negligence to be pivotal to his decision to deny Petitioner's motion to correct his sentence and he found the **factual nature** of Petitioner's 13year-old prior conviction to be "irrelevant<sup>2</sup>." (R 39) The focus should be exactly reversed, from the numbers and titles of the statutes defining the various types of manslaughter to the nature of the crimes actually committed.

There is actually no reason to conclude that DUI manslaughter is not "manslaughter" so as to exclude it from the definition of manslaughter. Had the First District Court of Appeal been considering a prior conviction as old as Petitioner's, in fact, they would have been confronted with the same crime of DUI manslaughter as in Watkins but one which was defined:

> . . . and if the death of any human being be caused by the operation of a motor vehicle by any person while intoxicated, such person shall be deemed guilty of manslaughter, and on conviction be punished by existing law relating to manslaughter.

s. 860.01(2), Fla. Stat. (1975). D.U.I. manslaughter, thus, is manslaughter. It is not the fact that D.U.I. manslaughter is defined under a separate statute from other types of manslaughter but it is its elements that make it not "consciously violent."

The offense of manslaughter in 1976 and today includes two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "The factual predicate underlying [Petitioner's] manslaughter conviction - that he struck a bicyclist while driving his car - is irrelevant." (R 39)

distinct crimes: "manslaughter by act or procurement," which requires proof that the defendant had the requisite intent to commit an unlawful act, and "manslaughter by culpable negligence," where the underlying conduct constitutes culpable negligence and there is no intent to commit an unlawful act. Taylor v. State, 444 So. 2d 931, at 934 (Fla. 1983). Taylor held that there can be a crime of attempted manslaughter but only where if death had resulted the defendant would have been guilty of voluntary manslaughter. There can be no corresponding attempt crime for manslaughter by culpable negligence, this Honorable Court said, because of the fact that "there can be no intent to commit an unlawful act when the underlying conduct constitutes culpable Id., 444 So. 2d at 934. Put differently, negligence." manslaughter by culpable negligence, like D.U.I. manslaughter, is not a "consciously violent" type of crime.

Culpable negligence is of "a gross and flagrant character, evincing reckless disregard of human life or of the safety of persons exposed to its dangerous effects; or that entire want of care which would raise the presumption of indifference to consequences; or such wantonness or recklessness or grossly careless disregard of the safety and welfare of the public, or that reckless indifference to the rights of others, which is <u>equivalent</u> to an intentional violation of them." <u>Preston v. State</u>, 56 So. 2d 543, 544 (Fla. 1952); <u>State v. Greene</u>, 348 So. 2d 3 (Fla. 1977). (Emphasis supplied.) It is the reckless acts of those who commit

manslaughter by culpable negligence or D.U.I. manslaughter<sup>3</sup> that provide proof <u>equivalent</u> to evidence of intent sufficient to punish defendants for the unintended results of their recklessness. It should be noted, moreover, that in <u>Tollefson v. State</u>, 525 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), when a defendant was adjudicated guilty of both D.U.I. manslaughter and manslaughter by culpable negligence, the District Court held that, because "[o]nly one homicide conviction and sentence may be imposed for a single death[,]" the case would be remanded for entry of an amended judgment and sentence for "only one count of manslaughter[,]" without specifying which type of manslaughter was appropriate. <u>Id</u>., 525 So. 2d at 962, 963.

The trial court's decision to deny Petitioner's motion to correct his illegal sentence and part of the <u>Watkins</u> Court's analysis depended on the fact that D.U.I. manslaughter is charged under a separate section of the Florida Statutes from "regular" manslaughter. Petitioner suggests that the numerical distinction drawn by the trial court, and by the first part of the <u>Watkins</u> decision, between "D.U.I. manslaughter" and "manslaughter," is irrelevant to the determination of whether D.U.I. manslaughter and manslaughter by culpable negligence are "especially" or "consciously" violent felonies. There is no reason to think that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Choosing to drive while legally drunk is itself an act of reckless disregard of the life or safety of others." <u>State v.</u> <u>Smith</u>, 638 So. 2d 509, at 513 (Fla. 1994), Justice Kogan concurring.

<sup>&</sup>quot;While becoming intoxicated might be a reckless act in itself . . . "<u>Higdon v. State</u>, 465 So. 2d 1309, at 1313 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), Judge Dauksch dissenting.

"D.U.I. manslaughter" is not "manslaughter;" but the second part of the <u>Watkins</u> Court's analysis, <u>i</u>. <u>e</u>., the **nature** of the crimes, demonstrates why both D.U.I. manslaughter and manslaughter by culpable negligence should be excluded from the habitual violent felony offender statute's list of "especially" violent felonies.

Manslaughter by act or procurement and manslaughter by culpable negligence are separate crimes defined within a single subsection. s. 782.07, Fla. Stat. (1993). Manslaughter by culpable negligence is defined by a different subsection than is D.U.I. manslaughter. s. 316.193(3), Fla. Stat. (1993). All three offenses constitute the crime of "manslaughter." In the order denying Petitioner's motion to correct his illegal sentence, the trial court focused on the fact that manslaughter by culpable negligence is included within the definitions of Section 782.07 and D.U.I. manslaughter is not. (R 37) Interestingly, none of the felonies listed in the habitual violent felony offender statute are designated by their statutory sections. The trial judge assumed that "manslaughter" in Section 775.084(1)(b)1. refers to Section 782.07 but it actually does not. Except for the nature of the crimes, therefore, there is no reason to include or exclude either D.U.I. manslaughter or manslaughter by culpable negligence in or from the list of "especially violent" prior felonies. s. 775.084(1)(b)1., Fla. Stat. (1993). Contrary to the trial court's conclusion, therefore, Petitioner maintains that "The factual predicate underlying [Petitioner's] manslaughter conviction - that he struck a bicyclist while driving his car - " is entirely

relevant, and indeed is crucial, to determining whether he qualifies for sentencing as an habitual violent felony offender. (R 39)

Canales v. State, 571 So. 2d 87 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), upheld an habitual violent felony offender sentence as valid where the prior "violent" felony was approximately the equivalent of D.U.I. manslaughter. The issue in Canales, however, was whether the prior violent felony qualifying a defendant for HVO sentencing must have been committed within the state of Florida, and not whether "second degree manslaughter" in a state (New York) which had no D.U.I. manslaughter statute was an "especially violent" crime. The decisions in Canales and Watkins, supra, did not rule specifically on the same question of law; but the reliance on Canales by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in its affirmance of the denial of Petitioner's motion to correct his illegal sentence has created a direct legal conflict in the decisions of District Courts of this The conflict should be resolved on the basis of the First State. District Court of Appeal's reasoning in Watkins, supra, and Petitioner's illegal sentence as an habitual violent felony offender must be vacated and corrected.

#### ISSUE II

IF THE NECESSARY PREDICATE CONVICTIONS ARE ABSENT, AN HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER SENTENCE IS ILLEGAL, AND AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE, EVEN THOUGH PREVIOUSLY AFFIRMED ON DIRECT APPEAL, MAY BE CORRECTED AT ANY TIME.

In its decision in this case, the District Court wrote:

In [Petitioner's] prior direct this appeal, based on court's records, White in fact challenged his violent habitual felony offender sentence on the very grounds he now seeks to raise in the context of this appeal from a rule 3.800 motion. Under the law of the case doctrine (a species of res judicata), White raise this cannot issue again. Sanders v. State, 621 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 629 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 1993). A per curiam without decision even opinion establishes the law of the case on the same issues and facts which were raised or which could have been raised. Gaskins v. State, 502 So. 2d 1344, 1346 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); State v. Stabile, 443 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

White v. State, 651 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

In <u>Bedford v. State</u>, 633 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1994), the Fourth District Court of Appeal had denied relief from an illegal sentence for kidnapping "on the rationale that [the Supreme Court] had previously affirmed that sentence and because the law of the case precluded review." <u>Id</u>., 633 So. 2d at 14. This Honorable Court in <u>Bedford</u> agreed with District Court Judge Anstead's dissent and held that an illegal sentence may be corrected even after it has been erroneously affirmed. The illegality of the kidnapping sentence had not been raised on direct appeal in <u>Bedford</u>; but by analogy, in

<u>Preston v. State</u>, 444 So. 2d 939 (Fla. 1984), this Honorable Court reconsidered its ruling on a suppression issue because, it said, an appellate court has the power to reconsider and correct erroneous rulings, notwithstanding that such rulings have become the "law of the case," in exceptional circumstances where reliance on a previous decision would result in manifest injustice. <u>See also</u>, <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 864 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) ("A court having jurisdiction can always act to correct an illegal sentence.")

It should be noted that in <u>Sanders v. State</u>, 621 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), cited by the District Court in this decision for the proposition that Petitioner may not seek relief herein because his sentence had been previously affirmed, the appellant Sanders' claims had been rejected because the errors complained of did <u>not</u> constitute an illegal sentence. Additionally, in <u>Gaskins</u> <u>v. State</u>, 502 So. 2d 1344 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987), that portion of Gaskins' sentence which was deemed to be illegal <u>was</u> corrected by the District Court, but the sentencing error which may have merely violated the sentencing guidelines and had been raised already on appeal was rejected.

Petitioner's sentence was illegal because the prior conviction relied upon for his classification as an habitual violent felony offender was not a "violent" offense contemplated by Section 775.084(1)(b)1. Because the sentence was illegal, even though it has previously been affirmed, <u>per curiam</u>, it can be corrected at any time. The trial court's order denying Petitioner's motion to correct his illegal sentence must be reversed.

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons expressed herein, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse the District Court's decision in this cause, reverse the trial court's order denying Petitioner's motion to correct his illegal sentence, and remand this cause to the trial court for resentencing.