IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OF 7 FILED SID J. WHITE AUG 28 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____Ctrief Deputy Clark

NATHANIEL WHITE,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 85,603

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S MERITS BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida Fifth District

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL REBECCA ROARK WALL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

Fla. Bar #618586 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: The trial court correctly denied the defendant's motion to correct an illegal sentence. The defendant's 1977 conviction for manslaughter provided the necessary underlying for habitual violent felony conviction offender status. Manslaughter is one of the enumerated offenses that was designated by the Legislature in the habitual offender statute. If the Legislature had intended to exclude manslaughter by culpable negligence from the list of qualifying offenses, it could easily have done so. Since there is no such distinction, a manslaughter conviction provides the grounds to habitualize, regardless of the underlying facts of the crime. Because he had a prior conviction for one of the enumerated qualifying offenses, the defendant's sentence was correct and legal.

<u>POINT II</u>: The trial court and appellate court correctly determined that this issue had already been decided. The defendant raised the exact issue -- whether manslaughter can provide the grounds for a violent felony offender habitualization -- on direct appeal. He is challenging that ground again under the auspices of a motion to correct an illegal sentence. The appellate court has ruled that the manslaughter conviction was a proper ground to qualify the defendant as an habitual violent felony offender. The appellate court's ruling on that very issue and that exact ground is law of the case.

ARGUMENTS

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY SENTENCED THE DEFENDANT AS AN HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER AFTER DETERMINING DEFENDANT THAT THE HAD А PRIOR CONVICTION FOR MANSLAUGHTER, AN ENUMERATED OFFENSE UNDER THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE.

It has long been established that where the Legislature has defined a crime in specific terms, the courts are without authority to define it differently. *State v. Jackson*, 526 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 1988). When the language of a penal statute is clear, plain, and without ambiguity, effect must be given to it accordingly. *Graham v. State*, 472 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 1985). Where the language used in a statute has a definite and precise meaning, the courts are without power to restrict or extend that meaning. *Id.* at 465. Statutes that are penal in character must be strictly construed. *Jones v. State*, 629 So. 2d 215 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

Section 775.084(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989), Florida's Habitual Offender Statute, designates what qualifications are necessary for a trial court to find a defendant to be an habitual violent felony offender. The statute provides that

> "Habitual violent felony offender" means a defendant from whom the court may impose an extended term of imprisonment, as provided in this section, if it finds that: 1. The defendant has previously been convicted of a felony or an attempt or conspiracy

to commit a felony and one or more of such *convictions* was for: Arson, а. Sexual battery, b. с. Robbery, d. Kidnapping, Aggravated child e. abuse, Aggravated assault, f. g. Murder, h. Manslaughter, throwing, Unlawful i. or discharging of a placing, destructive device or bomb, Armed burglary, or j. Aggravated battery; k.

(emphasis added). The definition of habitual violent felony offender clearly includes a defendant who has previously been convicted of manslaughter -- it is one of the enumerated felonies which may serve as a predicate offense for classifying a defendant as an habitual violent felony offender under Section 775.084(1)(b)(1), Fla. Stat. (1989).

The statutory definition of manslaughter is

The killing of another human being by the act, procurement, or culpable *negligence* of another, without lawful justification according to the provisions of Chapter 776 and in cases in which such killing shall not be excusable homicide or murder, according to the provisions of this chapter, shall be deemed manslaughter and shall constitute a felony of the second degree, punishable as provided in \$775.082, \$775.08, or \$775.084.

(emphasis added). The definition specifically includes the killing of a human being by the culpable negligence of another. It likewise specifies that it can be the basis of punishment under

Section 775.084.

Both the statute defining manslaughter and the statute defining an habitual violent felony offender are plain and unambiguous. The manslaughter definition does not limit the application of Section 775.084 to exclude using manslaughter as a basis for a habitual violent felony offender. Nor does the habitual offender statute exclude convictions for manslaughter by culpable negligence.

The Legislature could easily have done exactly that if it had intended to set that limitation. The Legislature chose instead to include a conviction for manslaughter as a basis for finding a defendant to be an habitual violent felony offender. Appellate courts cannot now go behind the plain language of the statute.

In the instant case, Petitioner is asking this court to hold that he cannot be found to be an habitual violent felony offender based on his 1977 conviction for manslaughter. He argues that his conduct which led to his manslaughter conviction was actually driving a vehicle under the influence, and therefore was not violent conduct. (Petitioner's Brief On The Merits, p. 3). However, there is no evidence in the record that the defendant's crime was tantamount to DUI manslaughter. The sole evidence pertaining to that conviction comes from the trial judge and the prosecutor, who indicated on the record that it "appears to be based upon culpable negligence in the operation of a motor vehicle" in which a bicyclist was hit by the defendant's car. (Petitioner's Brief On The Merits, p. 3). There was no other evidence presented

to support that argument.

This court has held that "[a] conviction establishes only the elements of the crime, and does not include underlying facts or conduct which are not elements of the offense. *Dautel v. State*, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S388 (Fla. July 20, 1995). The defendant was convicted of manslaughter in 1977 and apparently received a 15 year sentence for that crime. (R.14). The court should not try to look beyond the face of the conviction in order to decide whether the defendant's crime was a "violent" one within the meaning of \$775.084. The Legislature has already decided that a manslaughter conviction qualifies as a predicate offense for habitual violent felony offender status. Since the defendant had such a qualifying conviction, the trial court correctly found that the defendant was an habitual violent felony offender.

Even if this court determines that manslaughter should not qualify as a "violent" crime, the defendant's sentence is still not an illegal one in this case. While the court found him to be an habitual violent felony offender, the sentence imposed did not include the mandatory minimum sentence. The record shows that the defendant qualified as an habitual felony offender because of his two prior felony convictions. Because his sentence was within that allowed for habitual felony offenders, it is not illegal. Therefore, the trial court properly denied the motion to correct the sentence.

POINT II

THE ISSUE RAISED ON MOTION FOR ILLEGAL SENTENCE HAD ALREADY BEEN ADJUDICATED BY THE APPELLATE COURT ON THE DEFENDANT'S DIRECT APPEAL, AND THEREFORE WAS LAW OF THE CASE WHICH COULD NOT BE RELITIGATED.

While an illegal sentence can be challenged at any time, the issues regarding the propriety of the habitual offender sentence were raised, litigated, and ruled upon already by the appellate court. Petitioner claims that the underlying prior conviction used to habitualize him as a violent felony offender was not a qualifying offense. He argues that if it was not a proper qualifying offense, then his habitual violent felony offender sentence is an illegal one. He reasons that he can, therefore, raise the illegality of his sentence over and over again without any limit, until some court overturns the sentence. That argument is misplaced.

A motion to correct an illegal sentence cannot be used to relitigate issues which have already been determined by an appellate court. *Sanders v. State*, 621 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). When a defendant has challenged the underlying grounds for his habitual offender sentence in a direct appeal, the appellate court's ruling becomes law of the case with regard to that particular issue. *Gaskins v. State*, 502 So. 2d 1345 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). A per curiam affirmance does establish law of the case. *State v. Stabile*, 443 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

In the instant case, the defendant raised the exact issue on

direct appeal -- that manslaughter is not a sufficiently "violent" crime to qualify a defendant as an habitual violent felony offender. The issue was raised on direct appeal, and the appellate court issued a per curiam affirmance. The court, in effect, held that the underlying manslaughter conviction qualified the defendant as an habitual violent felony offender.

In his 3.800(a) motion, the defendant raised the exact same issue again. The issue has already been reviewed by an appellate court and ruled upon. He has raised no new grounds to challenge the legality of his sentence. The sole ground is one which the appellate court has already ruled is a valid ground to find him to be a violent felony offender. Therefore, that ground cannot be relitigated, no matter how many time the defendant argues that it makes his sentence illegal.

The trial court correctly denied the motion to correct an illegal sentence. The appellate court had already reviewed the exact issue and the very same grounds. The issue regarding this exact ground has already been decided and cannot be relitigated merely because the defendant does not like the outcome. The trial court's ruling, and the appellate court's decision, must be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, the State respectfully asks this court to uphold the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in all respects.